
City of Kelowna
Public Hearing

AGENDA
 

Tuesday, July 15, 2014

6:00 pm

Council Chamber

City Hall, 1435 Water Street

Pages

1. Call to Order

THE CHAIR WILL CALL THE HEARING TO ORDER:

1.     (a)    The purpose of this Hearing is to consider
certain bylaws which, if adopted, shall amend Kelowna
2030 - Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 10500 and
Zoning Bylaw No. 8000.

(b)   All persons who believe that their interest in property
is affected by the proposed bylaws shall be afforded a
reasonable opportunity to be heard or to present written
submissions respecting matters contained in the bylaws
that are the subject of this hearing.  This Hearing is open to
the public and all representations to Council form part of
the public record.  A live audio feed may be broadcast and
recorded by Castanet.

(c)   All information, correspondence, petitions or reports
that have been received concerning the subject bylaws
have been made avai lable to the publ ic .    The
correspondence and petitions received after June 30, 2014
(date of notification) are available for inspection during the
course of this hearing and are located on the information
table in the foyer of the Council Chamber.

(d)   Council debate on the proposed bylaws is scheduled
to take place during the Regular Council meeting after the
conclusion of this Hearing. It should be noted, however,
that for some items a final decision may not be able to be
reached tonight.

1



(e)   It must be emphasized that Council will not receive
any representation from the applicant or members of the
public after conclusion of this Public Hearing.

2. Notification of Meeting

The City Clerk will provide information as to how the
Hearing was publicized.

3. Individual Bylaw Submissions

3.1 WITHDRAWN BY STAFF - Bylaw No. 10975 (TA14-
0003) - Adding A1m - Agriculture 1 with Medical
Marihuana Production Facility Designation to the
A1 - Agriculture 1 Zone

This application has been withdrawn by staff
pending further discussions with the Minister of
Agriculture.

3.2 Bylaw No. 10978 (ASP10-0001 & OCP13-0019) -
1855 Bennett Road, 1005 Clifton Road North and (E
of) Paly Road

4 - 114

To amend the Official Community Plan in order to
change the future land use designation of
the subject properties from the Resource
Protection Area and Future Urban Reserve
designations to the Single/Two Unit Residential, 
Major Park and Open Space, and Future Urban
Reserve  Designations.

3.3 Bylaw No. 10976 (OCP13-0017) and Bylaw
No. 10977 (Z13-0040) - 901-911 Stremel Road,
Tamdan Ventures Ltd.

115 - 142

To amend the Official Community Plan in order to
change the future land use designations of part of
the subject properties  in order to accommodate the
development of a new automobile dealership and
rezone the subject properties from the C9 – Tourist
Commercial / I2 – General Industrial zone to the
C10 – Service Commercial zone.

4. Termination

5. Procedure on each Bylaw Submission

(a)     Brief description of the application by City Staff
(Land Use Management);

2



(b)     The Chair will request that the City Clerk indicate
all information, correspondence, petitions or reports
received for the record.

(c)     The applicant is requested to make representation
to Council regarding the project and is encouraged to
limit their presentation to 15 minutes.

(d)     The Chair will call for representation from the
public in attendance as follows:

    (i)     The microphone at the public podium has been
provided for any person(s) wishing to make
representation at the Hearing.

     (ii)     The Chair will recognize ONLY speakers at the
podium.

     (iii)     Speakers are encouraged to limit their remarks
to 5 minutes, however, if they have additional
information they may address Council again after all
other members of the public have been heard a first
time.

(e)     Once the public has had an opportunity to
comment, the applicant is given an opportunity to
respond to any questions raised.  The applicant is
requested to keep the response to a total of 10 minutes
maximum.

(f)     Questions by staff by members of Council must be
asked before the Public Hearing is closed and not during
debate of the bylaw at the Regular Meeting, unless for
clarification.

(g)     Final calls for representation (ask three times). 
Unless Council directs that the Public Hearing on the
bylaw in question be held open, the Chair shall state to
the gallery that the Public Hearing on the Bylaw is closed.

Note:  Any applicant or member of the public may use
visual aids (e.g. photographs, sketches, slideshows, etc.)
to assist in their presentation or questions.  The computer
and ELMO document camera at the public podium are
available.  Please ask staff for assistance prior to your
item if required.

3



 

 

 REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: 6/11/2014 

RIM No. 1200-10 

To: City Manager 

From: Policy & Planning, Community Planning & Real Estate (JM) 

Applications: 
ASP10-0001 
OCP13-0019 

Owner: Lakeside Communities Inc. 

Address: 

1855 Bennett Road 
1005 Clifton Road North 
(E OF) Paly Road 
(E OF) Paly Road 

Applicant: MMM Group Limited 

Subject: Area Structure Plan & OCP Amendment   

Existing OCP Designation: 

 

REP – Resource Protection Area 
FUR – Future Urban Reserve 
 

Proposed OCP Designation: 

 

S2RES – Single / Two Unit Residential 
PARK - Major Park and Open Space   
PSU – Public Service Utilities 
FUR – Future Urban Reserve 
 

Existing Zone: 
A1 – Agriculture 1  
P4 - Utilities 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Council receives for information the report of the Policy & Planning Department, dated 
June 3rd, 2014, with respect to the North Clifton Area Structure Plan, prepared for Melcor 
Developments by the MMM Group, dated April 2014; 

AND THAT Official Community Plan Bylaw Amendment No. OCP 13-0019 to amend Map 4.1 of the 
Kelowna 2030 – Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 10500, by changing the Future Land Use 
designations of: 

 Lots 1 and 2, Section 17, Township 23, ODYD, Plan KAP65503, respectively located on 
1855 Bennett Road and 1005 Clifton Road North, Kelowna, BC;  

 Fractional South ½ of East ½ of the North West ¼ of Section 17, Township 23, ODYD, 
located on (E OF) Paly Road, Kelowna, BC; 

 The North ½ of the Fractional East ½ of the Fractional North West ¼ of Section 17, 
Township 23, ODYD located on (E OF) Paly Road, Kelowna, BC; 

4



ASP10-0001 / OCP13-0019 – Page 2 

 
 

 

from the Resource Protection Area and Future Urban Reserve designations to the Single / Two 
Unit Residential, Major Park and Open Space, Future Urban Reserve and Public Service Utilities 
designations, as shown on Map “A” attached to the Report of the Policy and Planning Department 
dated June 11, 2014, be considered by Council; 

AND THAT Official Community Plan Bylaw Amendment No. OCP13-0019 to amend Map 5.2 of the 
Kelowna 2030 – Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 10500, by altering the extent of the 
Permanent Growth Boundary on:  

 Lots 1 and 2, Section 17, Township 23, ODYD, Plan 65503, respectively located on 1855 
Bennett Road and 1005 Clifton Road North, Kelowna, BC;  

 Fractional South ½ of East ½ of the North West ¼ of Section 17, Township 23, ODYD, 
located on (E OF) Paly Road, Kelowna, BC; 

 The North ½ of the Fractional East ½ of the Fractional North West ¼ of Section 17, 
Township 23, ODYD located on (E OF) Paly Road, Kelowna, BC; 

as shown on Map “B” attached to the Report of the Policy and Planning Department dated June 
11, 2014, be considered by Council; 

AND THAT Official Community Plan Bylaw Amendment No. OCP13-0019 to amend Map 5.9 of the 
Kelowna 2030 – Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 10500, by adding linear corridors and paths 
on:  

 Lots 1 and 2, Section 17, Township 23, ODYD, Plan 65503, respectively located on 1855 
Bennett Road and 1005 Clifton Road North, Kelowna, BC;  

 Fractional South ½ of East ½ of the North West ¼ of Section 17, Township 23, ODYD, 
located on (E OF) Paly Road, Kelowna, BC; 

 The North ½ of the Fractional East ½ of the Fractional North West ¼ of Section 17, 
Township 23, ODYD located on (E OF) Paly Road, Kelowna, BC; 

as shown on Map “C” attached to the Report of the Policy and Planning Department dated June 
11, 2014, be considered by Council; 

AND THAT Official Community Plan Bylaw Amendment No. OCP13-0019 to amend Map 7.3 of the 
Kelowna 2030 – Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 10500, by adding to the 20 Year Major Road 
Network on:  

 Lots 1 and 2, Section 17, Township 23, ODYD, Plan 65503, respectively located on 1855 
Bennett Road and 1005 Clifton Road North, Kelowna, BC;  

 Fractional South ½ of East ½ of the North West ¼ of Section 17, Township 23, ODYD, 
located on (E OF) Paly Road, Kelowna, BC; 

 The North ½ of the Fractional East ½ of the Fractional North West ¼ of Section 17, 
Township 23, ODYD located on (E OF) Paly Road, Kelowna, BC; 

as shown on Map “D” attached to the Report of the Policy and Planning Department dated June 
11, 2014, be considered by Council; 

AND THAT Official Community Plan Bylaw Amendment No. OCP13-0019 to amend Map 7.4 of the 
Kelowna 2030 – Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 10500, by altering the Future City Serviced 
Areas:  

 Lots 1 and 2, Section 17, Township 23, ODYD, Plan 65503, respectively located on 1855 
Bennett Road and 1005 Clifton Road North, Kelowna, BC;  

5



ASP10-0001 / OCP13-0019 – Page 3 

 
 

 

 Fractional South ½ of East ½ of the North West ¼ of Section 17, Township 23, ODYD, 
located on (E OF) Paly Road, Kelowna, BC; 

 The North ½ of the Fractional East ½ of the Fractional North West ¼ of Section 17, 
Township 23, ODYD located on (E OF) Paly Road, Kelowna, BC; 

as shown on Map “E” attached to the Report of the Policy and Planning Department dated June 
11, 2014, be considered by Council; 

AND THAT Council considers the Public Information Session public process to be appropriate 
consultation for the purpose of Section 879 of the Local Government Act, as outlined in the 
Report of the Land Use Management Department dated June 11, 2014; 

AND FURTHER THAT the Official Community Plan Bylaw Amendment Bylaw be forwarded to a 
Public Hearing for further consideration. 

2.0 Purpose   

To receive for information the North Clifton Area Structure Plan (ASP), and to consider the 
corresponding amendments to the Official Community Plan.  

3.0 Policy & Planning Department 

Policy & Planning Department staff are supportive of the proposed Area Structure Plan (ASP) and 
the corresponding amendments to the Official Community Plan (OCP). Since its adoption, the 
current OCP has anticipated the preparation of an ASP for this site in order to facilitate the 
development of approximately 200 single detached residential units. This form and density of 
development was accommodated within the City’s 20-year Servicing Plan.  

The proposed development complies with the City’s overall expectations for the site. 
Development on the lands is clustered in groups on existing benches, respecting the site’s natural 
topographic limitations. This effort reduces the impact of hillside development (grading), while 
also protecting environmentally sensitive areas and visually significant features.  

The ASP itself provides the detailed guiding principles that, when applied to future development, 
will result in a pleasant suburban community that blends effectively with its natural 
surroundings. In terms of development form, the proposal will also complement the surrounding 
established residential communities, including the McKinley Landing and Clifton Highlands 
neighbourhoods. It is anticipated that over time, the boundaries between the neighbourhoods 
may blur, each reflecting a form of lower density development that respects and reflects their 
natural surroundings. 

While the aesthetic and overall feel of the proposed development may blend well with its 
surrounding environment, both natural and built, staff do acknowledge that there will be some 
significant impacts associated with the proposal. Some of these impacts are a result of changes 
that occur naturally as a city grows and takes in areas such as Clifton Highlands and McKinley 
Landing, which were once isolated rural neighbourhoods. In such cases, change is inevitable, 
though it does not have to be negative. Such is the case with the North Clifton ASP. Should the 
development eventually receive approval, there will be a road connection between two formerly 
isolated neighbourhoods, and traffic along this roadway will increase. Staff and the applicant 
have worked hard to ensure that this traffic can be predicted and accommodated. And, City staff 
will continue to work to ensure that the safety impacts of traffic increases are addressed.  

But, just as traffic will increase, so will connectivity. As a result of new road connections, 
residents will be able to access other parts of the city much more conveniently. And, perhaps 
most significantly, the ability for residents and emergency responders to get access to and egress 

6



ASP10-0001 / OCP13-0019 – Page 4 

 
 

 

from the area during an emergency will be greatly improved by the provision of a second 
dedicated public access. 

In addition, the ASP proposal will result in the development of an extensive and publicly 
accessible trail network linked through multiple viewpoints to a central city-wide park. Taken 
together as two key parts of a recreation network, staff feel that the park and trail program will 
provide a significant amenity to the entire area for many years to come. 

Alongside the road connection, the proposed development will be extending both sanitary and 
water services through the existing Clifton Highlands neighbourhood, ending at the doorstep of 
the McKinley Landing neighbourhood. Some intensification of land uses within existing OCP 
designations is expected in Clifton Highlands as residents connect to the system, subject to 
latecomer agreements. Staff do not anticipate any significant capacity concerns, as the potential 
for such intensification is seen to be limited. However, should McKinley Landing wish to connect 
to this system in the future, a capacity analysis would be required to ensure that they could be 
accommodated without triggering system upgrades. Appropriate analysis will be done on a case-
by-case basis to ensure that all proposed future development addresses system capacity. 

Staff also acknowledge the high level of interaction and standard of practice shown by the 
applicant team in their engagement with the public during this multi-year process. The applicant 
team provided regular updates and made themselves available far above any City requirements in 
order to answer public questions and concerns.  

Overall, although it is acknowledged that the proposed development will bring with it changes to 
the surrounding area, this comprehensive planning exercise will accommodate growth in this 
location in a manner that achieves OCP objectives.  

Should Council receive the ASP and OCP amendments favourably, there remain several significant 
steps that the applicant team must take prior to commencing development, including Rezoning, 
subdivision, and development permits. As these stages approach, staff will continue to work with 
the applicant team and area residents to ensure that any negative impacts of development are 
mitigated. Such efforts include consideration of upgrades to existing roadways to improve the 
safety in the face of additional traffic. 

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Background 

On October 14, 2010, the proponent made application to prepare an Area Structure Plan (ASP) for 
portions of the subject properties. The purpose of the ASP was to investigate development 
potential on the site, and to plan such future development comprehensively. On July 11, 2011, 
Council authorized the preparation of the ASP. At that time, Council also limited the number of 
units on the site to a maximum of 200. The original boundary for the ASP is shown on Attachment 
1; however, part way into the process, the applicant requested that Council allow them to 
expand the ASP boundary area to encompass the entirety of the subject properties.  

ASPs are prepared in two phases: the first is a general investigation by the proponent of the 
development potential for a site, including any off-site issues and on-site constraints; and in the 
second phase, the applicant uses the issues and constraints identified during Phase 1 to inform a 
plan for the development of the site. Throughout this process, applicants are strongly 
encouraged to engage with surrounding neighbourhoods to discuss their proposal, to listen to 
neighbourhood concerns, and to address those concerns where feasible. In this case, the 
applicant team was in regular contact with both the Clifton Highlands Community Association 
(CHCA) and the McKinley Landing Residents’ Association (MLRA). Both City staff and the applicant 
team met with representatives of each association on multiple occasions throughout the ASP 

7



ASP10-0001 / OCP13-0019 – Page 5 

 
 

 

development process to keep them abreast of developments, and to listen to any concerns. In 
addition to in-person meetings, area residents were kept informed via two required Public 
Information Sessions, regular email updates, a dedicated City website, and a website hosted by 
the applicant. 

During the first phase of ASP development, the applicant team gathered critical information, 
including neighbourhood context, environmentally sensitive areas, visually significant features, 
hazard lands, and existing servicing. On March 29, 2012, the applicant held the required Public 
Information Session at the conclusion of the first phase of the ASP development process. At that 
session, approximately 103 members of the public were in attendance. Attendees noted several 
desired features of a future development on the site, including a robust parks and trail network, 
public lake access, and protection of environmentally sensitive areas. However, the road 
connection between the Clifton Highlands and McKinley Landing neighbourhoods was the most 
contentious issue. With this in mind, the City developed a rationale on the subject, which was 
posted on the project’s website (see Attachment 2).  

Once the information session had concluded, the applicant began work on the second phase of 
the ASP. This phase used the information gathered about site opportunities and constraints to 
prepare an overall development plan for the lands. On April 17, 2013, the applicant team held 
the last of the required Public Information Sessions where a draft of the ASP was presented for 
public comment. Of the 43 citizens who signed in at this session, comments respecting the 
development were generally positive; but, the road connection and associated impacts remained 
a significant concern.  

As part of the Phase 2 work, the applicant was required to provide a City-Wide Park, as described 
in the City’s Parkland Acquisition Guidelines. The location of this park was proposed at the 
southwest corner of the site at the time of the Phase 2 Public Information Session (see 
Attachment 3). However, subsequent to the session, the applicant team changed the location of 
the proposed park to the northwest corner of the site. Instead of an additional information 
session, the applicant team met with Residents’ Association representatives to discuss the 
change. Residents expressed significant concern with the new park location (see Attachment 4), 
noting that it was inferior to the original park location on several fronts, including: 

- Beach quality; 

- Accessibility; 

- Suitability for active park use and parking. 

The result of Phase 2 was the first draft of the North Clifton ASP, which was provided to City 
staff for review on November 14, 2013. After thorough staff review, the applicant was asked to 
reconsider their park proposal, as they had not demonstrated that their proposal adequately 
addressed the City’s park objectives. On April 23, 2014 the applicant team re-submitted the ASP 
with a revised park proposal, which included an expanded beach area to improve accessibility 
(see Attachment 5). 

In addition to the park location, the road connection remained an issue of concern for area 
residents. Of particular concern for residents was the condition of the existing road network in 
the area, which they noted was poor and would be worsened by increased traffic volume. As part 
of Phase 2 of the ASP, the applicant commissioned both a Transportation Impact Analysis (TIA) 
and a Road Safety Audit (RSA), completed to terms of reference developed by the City, to review 
the transportation and safety impacts of the road connection. The conclusions of the TIA and RSA 
are summarized below: 

8



ASP10-0001 / OCP13-0019 – Page 6 

 
 

 

- All study area intersections are expected to operate well within capacity (inclusive of all 
anticipated surrounding developments in the OCP); 

- The existing roadway design for both along Clifton Road North and McKinley Road is rural 
in nature without any suitable pedestrian infrastructure in place; 

- Clifton Road North is not a designated bike route and the existing narrow pavement lacks 
shoulder bike lanes; furthermore, the existing steep grade of 7% or more renders it a less 
suitable route for on-street bike lanes; 

- Roadways in both existing neighbourhoods have a collision rate below provincial averages 
for similar roadways; 

- The low volume of additional traffic from the proposed development, is unlikely to have 
any significant increase in terms of collision rate (fewer than  one collision in two years); 

- A range of improvements could be made to existing roadways to increase safety; 

- The proposed new roads through the development are to be constructed based on the 
current design standards and best practices and will incorporate better safety features. 

Based on the study findings and field investigation, the following roadway upgrades should be 
considered for gradual implementation in conjunction with this development: 

- Provide a 9.7m pavement width along Clifton Road North, where possible, to provide a 
consistent 3.35m travel lane in each direction and a 1.5m paved shoulder on each side 
throughout the corridor; 

- Extend existing concrete barriers along the west side of Clifton Road North from its 
current terminus at 114 Clifton Road North south to Boppart Court; 

- Install road side barrier mounted reflectors/delineators along the curves north of Boppart 
Court; 

- Install barrier with roadside slope stabilization/fill/blocks; 

- Install curve warning signs, chevrons and delineator posts at select locations along the 
corridor; 

- Trim roadside vegetation within road right-of-way at select locations to improve sightlines 
at driveways and intersections; 

- Remove roadside hazards, for example, retaining wall structures, decorative entrance 
features within road right-of-way; 

- Consolidate and improve direct property driveways, as opportunities arise. 

 

The road connection between the Clifton Highlands and McKinley Landing neighbourhoods is not 
presently included in the Development Cost Charge (DCC) program, nor are any of the upgrades 
identified above. Alongside their off-site infrastructure improvements for sanitary and water, the 
applicant has agreed to work with residents and the City to find opportunities to address road 
safety concerns. Beyond this, it is proposed that the remainder of the upgrades will be prioritized 
alongside all other capital projects considered by the City in future budget deliberations. 

Since an ASP is not a bylaw, and as such has no legal force, it is standard practice to bring 
forward the Future Land Use designations from the ASP in the form of an Official Community Plan 
amendment. While not guaranteeing the applicant development rights, which are subject to 
zoning and development permit processes, the OCP amendment cements the long-term concepts 

9



ASP10-0001 / OCP13-0019 – Page 7 

 
 

 

of the ASP in a bylaw that will be used to evaluate future development proposals. Should Council 
consider the OCP amendment favourably, it is anticipated that the applicant will bring forward 
an initial Rezoning application in the near future. 

4.2 Project Description 

The proposal under consideration includes two distinct, but related elements. Each will be 
discussed in detail below: 

Area Structure Plan (ASP) 

The applicant is proposing low density single detached housing development in clusters over the 
subject properties. These nine (9) clusters totalling approximately 175 units, respect the most 
sensitive areas of the land and focus development in those areas found to be most suitable. The 
result is a proposed residential community that respects its context, both in terms of its natural 
surroundings and the existing neighbourhoods to the north and south.  

As noted above, the applicant prepared an Environmental Assessment as part of the initial phase 
of ASP development. The assessment ranked the subject lands according to established criteria to 
determine those areas that are most environmentally sensitive (ESA-1). This allowed the 
applicant to avoid such areas wherever possible, and instead to protect them as natural open 
space. The assessment further included information about the protection of key wildlife 
corridors. While much of this information was useful in planning at the ASP level, the direct 
application of this information on the ground will occur at the Rezoning and Natural Environment 
Development Permit stage. 

In conjunction with the environmental assessment, the applicant also conducted a Visual Impact 
Analysis, wherein they identified all the visually significant features on the site. The proposed 
development is sited primarily on the existing plateaus and benches on the properties, but 
preserves the significant knolls, rocky outcrops and foreshore areas. 

The environmentally sensitive areas and visually significant features noted above generally form 
part of an open space network on the site, linked by a series of trails (see attached Map “C”). 
The trails link foreshore areas and beach to the upland hiking trails running through woodlands. 
The proposed trails also feature several key viewpoints where trail users can take in the vistas 
offered from the lands. The network links to adjacent properties to facilitate future trail 
expansions. The hub of the trail network is the city-wide park, which provides a variety of park 
experiences from active park space towards the east, to passive natural areas and beach access 
to the west. From this central area, residents and community members can branch out to enjoy 
the recreational opportunities offered by the trail network. 

A major collector road bisects the site, running north to south. It is anticipated that this road will 
be the principal link for local area residents moving both to Glenmore (north) and to downtown 
(south). The collector road is linked to several local roads running through the proposed 
development, and connecting in some cases to existing roads in neighbouring residential areas. 
These connections are critical, as they will facilitate the eventual integration of this 
development into the fabric of the surrounding area. These road linkages also provide critical 
emergency secondary access for all area residents in the case of wildfire. 

Undertaking the proposed development will require that the proponent bring services to the site, 
including water, storm drainage, and sanitary sewer. Both water and sanitary sewer will be 
provided through the City of Kelowna, with the proponent extending existing services from their 
current terminus on Clifton Road North. In association with this service extension, the proponent 
is examining opportunities to partner with the City to address some of the key recommendations 
of the road safety audit over and above any off-site upgrade requirements of the City. 

10



ASP10-0001 / OCP13-0019 – Page 8 

 
 

 

Beyond providing the likely physical layout of future development on the site, the ASP also 
provides key policy direction that is far more detailed and site specific than that which is 
provided in the OCP. These policies must be consistent with the OCP, and will be used to guide 
the evolution of development on the site, providing both City staff and the developer with a 
common set of principles from which to work. The ASP will be a guiding document against which 
future development applications will be evaluated. 

Official Community Plan (OCP) Amendment 

In order to bring forward the conclusion of an ASP into a bylaw format, the OCP must be changed 
to reflect the ASP’s recommendations. In this case, the applicant is proposing the following OCP 
amendments, which are shown on the attached Maps A - E: 

1) Change the Future Land Use designations on the subject properties; 
2) Alter the Permanent Growth Boundary to include the entirety of the subject properties; 
3) Include the new park and trail network; 
4) Include the new road network; and, 
5) Adjust the future service boundaries. 

4.3 Site Context 

The subject properties, being approximately 79.5ha are situated in the McKinley sector of the 
city, between the southern end of the McKinley Landing neighbourhood and the northern 
terminus of Clifton Road. The properties have seen limited forestry and agricultural uses in the 
past, but remain principally in their natural state. Some recent wildfire mitigation work has been 
undertaken in the area. There is one existing residence on the southwest portion of the lands, 
which is accessed from a driveway extending from the south end of Bennett Road in the McKinley 
Landing neighbourhood.  

The majority of the site is situated within the Permanent Growth Boundary and is designated 
Future Urban Reserve in the OCP. However, the easternmost portion of the proposed 
development is outside of the Permanent Growth Boundary and is designated Resource Protection 
Area in the OCP.  

Existing environmental information suggests that there are several areas containing sensitive 
terrestrial habitat, and the foreshore is comprised of very high value Kokanee spawning habitat. 
Also, the terrain on the subject properties is challenging, with a large proportion of land 
exceeding a slope of 30%. 

The surrounding neighbourhoods consist of established low density rural residential development, 
with average lot sizes being approximately 1,200m2. Specifically, adjacent land uses are as 
follows: 

Orientation Zoning Land Use 

North 
RR2 – Rural Residential 2 
P4 - Utilities 

Large lot rural residential  
GEID reservoir 

East A1 – Agriculture 1 Future Wilden development area 

South 
A1 – Agriculture 1 
RR3 – Rural Residential 3 
LUC76-1087 

Large lot rural residential 

West 
RR3 – Rural Residential 3 
RR2 – Rural Residential 2 
LUC78-1024 

Large lot rural residential 

 

  

11



ASP10-0001 / OCP13-0019 – Page 9 

 
 

 

Subject Property Map: North Clifton ASP lands 

 

5.0 Current Development Policies  

5.1 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

Development Process 

The subject properties are designated in the Official Community Plan (OCP) for the preparation 
of an Area Structure Plan. Chapter 3 of the OCP goes further to anticipate the type and density 
of development on the site, which is linked to the City’s 20 Year Servicing Plan. As such, it was 
anticipated that the subject lands would accommodate up to a maximum of 200 single detached 
dwellings. 

Staff recommends that the public process described in Section 4.1 of this report should be 
considered appropriate for the purpose of Section 879 of the Local Government Act, and that the 
process is sufficiently early and does not need to be further ongoing in this case. Furthermore, 
additional consultation with the Regional District of Central Okanagan, other boards, councils or 
agencies listed in Section 879, is not required in this case. 

Staff have reviewed this application, and it may move forward without affecting either the City’s 
Financial Plan or Waste Management Plan. 

Provide parks for a diversity of people and a variety of uses.1 

Ensure environmentally sustainable development.2 

                                                      
1
 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Objective 5.14 (Development Process Chapter). 

2
 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Objective 5.15 (Development Process Chapter). 

12



ASP10-0001 / OCP13-0019 – Page 10 

 
 

 

Environmentally Sensitive Area Linkages. Ensure that development activity does not 
compromise the ecological function of environmentally sensitive areas and maintains the 
integrity of plant and wildlife corridors.3 

Steep Slopes. Prohibit development on steep slopes (+30% or greater for a minimum distance of 
10 metres) except where provided for in ASPs adopted or subdivisions approved prior to adoption 
of OCP Bylaw 10500.4 

Access Through Steep Slopes. Discourage roads (public or private) through +30% slope areas 
intended to access lands beyond, except in cases where it can be demonstrated the road will be 
sensitively integrated (visual and aesthetic impacts minimized) with the natural environment and 
will present no hazards to persons or property, environmental threats or unreasonable servicing 
or maintenance challenges.5 

Ensure development is compatible with surrounding land uses.6 

Ensure context sensitive housing development.7 

Cluster Housing.8 Require new residential development to be in the form of cluster housing on / 
or near environmentally sensitive areas and areas of steeper slopes to lessen site disturbance and 
environmental impact on those areas identified on the Future Land Use Map 4.1 as single-two 
unit residential hillside. Steeply sloped areas should be retained as natural open space, public or 
private. The intent of the clustering would be to preserve features identified through the 
Development Permit process that otherwise might be developed and to maximize open space in 
order to: 

a. Protect environmentally sensitive areas of a development site and preserve them on a 
permanent basis utilizing the most appropriate tools available; 

b. Facilitate creative and flexible site design that is sensitive to the land’s natural features 
and adaptive to the natural topography; 

c. Decrease or minimize non-point source (i.e. asphalt roofs, driveways and parking) 
pollution impacts by reducing the amount of impervious surfaces in site development; 

d. Promote overall cost savings on infrastructure installation and maintenance; and 

e. Provide opportunities for social interaction, walking and hiking in open space areas. 

6.0 Technical Comments   

Addressed within the ASP document. 

7.0 Application Chronology   

Date of Application Received: October 14, 2010 
 
Date of Authorization to Prepare: July 11, 2011 
 
Date of Boundary Amendment: April 23, 2012 

                                                      
3
 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.15.3 (Development Process Chapter). 

4
 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.15.12 (Development Process Chapter). 

5
 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.15.13 (Development Process Chapter). 

6
 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Objective 5.19 (Development Process Chapter). 

7
 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Objective 5.22 (Development Process Chapter). 

8
 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Policy 5.22.1 (Development Process Chapter). 

13



ASP10-0001 / OCP13-0019 – Page 11 

 
 

 

 
Date of Phase 1 Open House:   March 29, 2012 
 
Date of Phase 2 Open House:   April 17, 2013 
 
Date DRAFT ASP Submitted:   November 14, 2013 
 
Date Final ASP Submitted:   April 23, 2014 

Report prepared by: 

 
     
James Moore, Long Range Policy Planning Manager 
 
 

Reviewed by:    Danielle Noble, Department Manager, Policy & Planning 
 

Approved for Inclusion:  D. Gilchrist, Div. Dir., Community Planning & Real Estate 
 

Attachments:  

Subject Properties Map 
North Clifton Area Structure Plan (Appendices Not Included) 
Attachment 1 - Map of Original ASP Boundary  
Attachment 2 - Clifton Road Extension Rationale 
Attachment 3 - Map of Original Park Location 
Attachment 4 – Map of Revised Park Location 
Attachment 5 - Map of Final Park Proposal 
OCP Map “A” – Map 4.1 Generalized Future Land Use 
OCP Map “B” – Map 5.2 Permanent Growth Boundary 
OCP Map “C” – Map 5.9 Linear Corridors/Paths 
OCP Map “D” – Map 7.3 20 Year Major Road Network and Road Classification Plan 

OCP Map “E” – Map 7.4 Water Supply System 

 

14



15



16



17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



REPORT TO COUNCIL 
 
 
 

Date: 6/23/2014 

RIM No. 1250-30 

To: City Manager 

From: Urban Planning Department (RS) 

Application: OCP13-0017/Z13-0040 Owner:   
TAMDAN VENTURES LTD., 
INC.NO. BC0862314 

Address: 901-911 Stremel Road Applicant: GTA Architecture 

Subject: OCP Amendment and Rezoning Applications 

Existing OCP Designation: Commercial/Industrial 

Proposed OCP Designation: Service Commercial 

Existing Zone: C9 – Tourist Commercial / I2 – General Industrial 

Proposed Zone: C10 – Service Commercial 

 

1.0 Recommendation 

THAT Official Community Plan Bylaw Amendment No. OCP13-0017 to amend Map 4.1 of the 
Kelowna 2030 – Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 10500, by changing the Future Land Use 
designation of portions of Lot 1, Section 34, Township 26, ODYD EPP35554, located on 901-911 
Stremel Road, Kelowna, BC from the Commercial and Industrial designations to the Service 
Commercial designation, as shown on Map “A” attached to the Report of Urban Planning 
Department dated June 23, 2014, be considered by Council; 
 
THAT Rezoning Application No. Z13-0040 to amend City of Kelowna Zoning Bylaw No. 8000 by 
changing the zoning classification of portions of Lot 1, Section 34, Township 26, ODYD EPP35554, 
located on 901-911 Stremel Road, Kelowna, BC, from the C9-Tourist Commercial zone and the I2-
General Industrial Zone to the C10-Service Commercial zone, as shown on Map “B” attached to 
the Report of the Urban Planning Department dated June 23, 2014, be considered by Council. 
 
AND THAT the Official Community Plan Bylaw Amendment Bylaw and the Zone Amending Bylaw 
be forwarded to a Public Hearing for further consideration. 
 
AND FURTHER THAT final adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw be considered in conjunction 
with Council’s consideration of a Development Permit for the subject property. 
 

115



OCP13-0017/Z13-0040 – Page 2 

 
 

AND FURTHER THAT final adoption of the Zone Amending Bylaw be considered subsequent to the 
requirements of the Development Engineering Branch, Black Mountain Irrigation District, Ministry 
of Transportation and Infrastructure being completed to their satisfaction. 

2.0 Purpose 

To rezone the subject parcel from C9 and I2 to C10, and redesignate the subject parcel from 
Commercial / Industrial to Service Commercial, to facilitate the development of a new 
automobile dealership. 

3.0 Urban Planning 

Urban Planning staff is supportive of the overall development concept, as it is consistent with the 
vision of the Official Community Plan (OCP) for the site. The building and supporting landscaping 
place considerable design effort on the site’s Highway 97 frontage, which contributes to the 
development of an improved highway corridor.  

The proposed development meets the requirements of the Zoning Bylaw, therefore should the 
land use and OCP amendments be supported by Council, the applicant will not be seeking any 
variances.  

4.0 Proposal 

4.1 Background 

The majority of the subject property is the former home of the “Malibu Grand Prix” Go-Kart 
Racing business. 

4.2 Project Description 

The applicant proposed to construct an automobile dealership (Orchard Ford) at the intersection 
of Hwy.97 North and Stremel Road. The new building proposed would be located towards the 
eastern side of the site and midway between north and south property boundaries. 

The proposed building is two storeys in height with show room, office, and service and parts 
areas at grade with a second storey office area above. The overall building area is 2869m2. The 
design of the building has been directed by the Ford Motor Company’s Millennium program 
standard which sets design standards for Ford dealerships. The exterior of the building is 
comprised of white aluminium composite panels with low E curtain walls of window glazing. 

In stark contrast to the relatively simple building elevations, the applicants have proposed a site 
design and landscape plan allows for generous landscaping within the sites parking areas and 
visual interest is added to the street frontages with 4 landscaped vehicle “playgrounds” for 
display and marketing.   

4.3 Site Context 

The subject property is situated in an area in transition with a number of transportation related 
project currently in the planning/pre-construction phases including the 6 lane widening of 
Hwy.97N and the extension of Mayfair Road through the Advanced Precast site to the east. The 
proposed land use (automotive sales) is consistent /compatible with surrounding land uses. 

Specifically, adjacent land uses are as follows: 

 

 

116



OCP13-0017/Z13-0040 – Page 3 

 
 

Orientation Zoning Land Use 

North RU1 – Large Lot Housing Single Family Home 

East I2 - General Industrial 
Advanced Pre-Cast & other construction 
related businesses 

South C3 – Community Commercial  
McCurdy Corner Plaza – Movie Theatre, 
Bowling, Pub, Furniture/Appliance Sales 

West C9 – Tourist Commercial Scandia 

 
 

Subject Property Map: 901-911 Stremel Road 

  

4.4 Zoning Analysis 

Zoning Analysis Table 

CRITERIA C10 ZONE REQUIREMENTS PROPOSAL 

Existing Lot/Subdivision Regulations 
Lot Area 1000m2 20900m2 

Lot Width 40m 96m 

Lot Depth 30m 145m 

Development Regulations 
Floor Area Ratio 0.65                       0.18 

Height 12m 66.75m 

Front Yard 2m 9m 

Side Yard (west) 2m 49m 

Side Yard (east) 0m 9m 

Rear Yard 0m 31m 

117



OCP13-0017/Z13-0040 – Page 4 

 
 

Site Coverage (Buildings) 60% 11.85% 

Other Regulations 
Minimum Parking Requirements 82 stalls 103 stalls 

Bicycle Parking 11 11 

Loading Space 3m2 3m2 

5.0 Current Development Policies  

5.1 Kelowna Official Community Plan (OCP) 

Development Process 

Compact Urban Form.1 Develop a compact urban form that maximizes the use of existing 
infrastructure and contributes to energy efficient settlement patterns. This will be done by 
increasing densities (approximately 75 - 100 people and/or jobs located within a 400 metre 
walking distance of transit stops is required to support the level of transit service) through 
development, conversion, and re-development within Urban Centres (see Map 5.3) in particular 
and existing areas as per the provisions of the Generalized Future Land Use Map 4.1. 

Retention of Commercial Land.2 In order to ensure that the City’s commercial land supply is not 
eroded, where the OCP Bylaw 10500 indicated a commercial land use designation for the 
property, the expectation would be that there be no net loss of commercial space on the site as 
a result of the redevelopment to include other uses. 

6.0 Technical Comments 

6.1 Building & Permitting Department 

 Development Cost Charges (DCC’s) are required to be paid prior to issuance of any Building 
Permit(s) for new construction 

 Demolition permits are required for any existing structures. 

 This building may be required to be sprinklered throughout. It appears that this building has 
three major occupancies. Any proposed deviance from this requirement of BCBC 12 requires 
an approved alternate solution report approved prior to the release of the Development 
Permit.  

 A Geotechnical report is required to address the sub soil conditions at time of building permit 
application.  

 A Building Code analysis is required for the structure at time of building permit applications, 
but the following items may affect the form and character of the building(s): 

 The British Columbia Building Code (BCBC 2012) may define this development as two separate 
buildings with possibly three separate major occupancies (D & E in building 1 and D & F2 in 
building #2). If a firewall is to be utilized, a complete building code analysis would be 
required to be reviewed prior to complete comments (at time of building permit application) 
being provided for the spatial separation between the two buildings. Fire shutters would be a 
requirement and hooked to the fire alarm system to allow for the unprotected openings 
between buildings and a 900mm High non combustible fire wall must be constructed to 
separate the two structures. A 900mm high firewall parapet will affect the form and 
character of the building(s). 

                                                      
1 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan, Chapter 5 (Development Process), Policy 5.2.3. 
2
 City of Kelowna Official Community Plan. Chapter 5 (Development Process), Policy 5.24.2. 

118



OCP13-0017/Z13-0040 – Page 5 

 
 

 The exits from the upper floor levels do not appear to meet minimum code requirements 
(number of exits, travel distance, etc). The code analysis is to contain a plan showing travel 
distances along with a code compliance analysis for the interconnected floors, 2nd stories, 
horizontal exits, convenience stairs and rated stairwell exits. This can be submitted at time 
of building permit application, but additional rated stairs may be required depending on the 
code analysis, which may affect the form and character of the building(s). 

 Size and location of all signage to be clearly defined as part of the development permit 

 Full Plan check for Building Code related issues will be done at time of Building Permit 
applications 

6.2 Development Engineering Department 

See Attachment dated December 9, 2013. 

6.3 Bylaw Services 

No concerns. 

6.4 Fire Department 

Fire department access, fire flows 150lt/sec, and hydrants as per the BC Building Code and City 
of Kelowna Subdivision Bylaw #7900. Requirements of the Fire and Life Safety Bylaw 10760 shall 
be met. Additional comments will be required at the building permit applications. 

6.5 Interior Health Authority 

This office has no concern or objection to the above referenced and proposed development 
application provided that the development will be serviced by community sanitary sewer and 
community water systems. 

6.6 Irrigation District - BMID 

See attached correspondence from Black Mountain Irrigation District. 

6.7 Fortis - Electric 

There are primary electrical distribution facilities within Stremel Road and Highway 97 N.  The 
applicant is responsible for costs associated with any changes to the subject properties' existing 
service, if any, as well as the provision of appropriate land rights where required. 

 
6.8 Infrastructure Planning 
 
As per the Works and Services Bylaw street trees are required in the boulevard on both Highway 9 
and Stremel Road. Boulevard and sidewalk widths, materials and locations should match what has 
already been constructed to the south. 

6.9 Ministry of Transportation 

Given the information provided by the City regarding the Mayfair Road extension including the 
proposed fall 2014 construction schedule, the Ministry has no further objection to the 
development proceeding.  We will be prepared to affix signature to the bylaw once it has 
received third reading and has been uploaded into our eDAS file accordingly. 
 

119



OCP13-0017/Z13-0040 – Page 6 

 
 

For your information, the applicant is currently in discussion with the Ministry Major Project team 
regarding final configuration of the Highway 97/Finns/Stremel intersection. 

7.0 Application Chronology 

Date of Application Received: November 8, 2013 
 
Public Notification & Consultation: February 28 - March 10, 2014 
 
Date of MOTI rezoning comments: May 27, 2014 
 
 

Report prepared by: 

     
Ryan Smith, Urban Planning Manager 
 
 

Approved for Inclusion:  Doug Gilchrist, Director, Community Planning & Real Estate 
 

Attachments: 

Site Plan 
Conceptual Elevations 
Landscape Plan 
Map “A” – Proposed OCP Amendment 
Map “B” – Proposed Rezoning 
Development Engineering Report Dated: December 9, 2013 
BMID Email Dated: November 20, 2013 

120



854-860

894

(W OF)

948

948

895-897

867-889

1100

901-911

2890

2800

2898

2898

FENWICK RD

STREMEL RD

HW
Y 9

7 N

FINNS RD

MAP "A" OCP AMENDMENT
Commercial
Industrial
Major Park and Open Space
Resource Protection

Legal Parcel
Subject Property
COMM to SC
IND to SC

OCP13-0017

This map is for general information only.
The City of Kelowna does not guarantee its
accuracy. All information should be verified.

Rev. Jun 12, 20140 3015 Metres

Amend the OCP for a portion of the subject property
from Commercial (COMM) to Service Commercial (SC).

Subject Property Notes:

Amend the OCP for a portion of the subject property
from Industrial (IND) to Service Commercial (SC).

Subject Property Notes:

121



C3

RU1

C3LP

A1
C9

I2

FENWICK RD

STREMEL RD

HW
Y 9

7 N
FINNS RD

This map is for general information only.
The City of Kelowna does not guarantee its
accuracy. All information should be verified.

MAP "B" PROPOSED ZONING

Rev. Jun 12, 2014

Legal Parcel
Subject Property

C9 to C10
I2 to C10

File #Z13-0040

0 3015 Metres

Rezone a portion of the subject property
from C9 Tourist Commercial
to C10 Service Commercial.

Subject Property Notes:

Rezone a portion of the subject property
from I2 General Industrial
to C10 Service Commercial.

Subject Property Notes:

122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



141



142


	Agenda
	3.2 2014 06 23 Report ASP10-0001_OCP13-0019.docx
	3.2 2014 06 23 Attachments ASP10-0001 revised.pdf
	3.3 2014 06 23 Report Z13-0040 Stremel.docx
	3.3 STREMEL Map A_OCP13-0017_RS.pdf
	3.3 STREMEL Map B_Z13-0040_RS.pdf
	3.3 2014 06 23 Attachments Z13-0040 Stremel Rd.pdf

